
 

 

 
Notice of meeting and agenda 
 
 

Regulatory Committee 
 
1.00pm (or at the conclusion of the Licensing Sub-Committee, 
whichever is the later), Monday, 13th March, 2023 

 
Dean of Guild Court Room - City Chambers 

 

This is a public meeting and members of the public are welcome to attend or watch the 
webcast live on the Council’s website. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contacts 

Email:  rachel.gentleman@edinburgh.gov.uk / taylor.ward@edinburgh.gov.uk 

Tel:  0131 529 4107 

 

 

 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

Regulatory Committee - 13 March 2023 Page 2 of 4 

 

 

 

1. Order of Business 
 
1.1   Including any notices of motion and any other items of business 

submitted as urgent for consideration at the meeting. 
 

2. Declaration of Interests 
 
2.1   Members should declare any financial and non-financial interests 

they have in the items of business for consideration, identifying 
the relevant agenda item and the nature of their interest.  

 

3. Deputations 
 
3.1   If any.  

4. Minutes 
 
4.1   None.  

5. Rolling Actions Log 
 
5.1   None.   

6. Business Bulletin 
 
6.1   None.   

7. Executive Decisions 
 
7.1   Sexual Entertainment Venues (SEVs): Update Following Judicial 

Review – Report by the Executive Director of Place 
5 - 10 

8. Routine Decisions 
 
8.1   None.   

9. Motions 
 
9.1   None.  



 

 

Regulatory Committee - 13 March 2023 Page 3 of 4 

 

 

 

Nick Smith 
Service Director, Legal and Assurance 

 

Committee Members 

Councillor Neil Ross (Convener), Councillor Jack Caldwell, Councillor James Dalgleish, 
Councillor Denis Dixon, Councillor Catherine Fullerton, Councillor Martha Mattos 
Coelho, Councillor Joanna Mowat and Councillor Susan Rae and a Labour Group 
Vacancy.  

Information about the Regulatory Committee 

The Regulatory Committee consists of 9 Councillors and is appointed by the City of 
Edinburgh Council.  

This meeting of the Regulatory Committee is being held in the City Chambers, High 
Street, Edinburgh and virtually by Microsoft Teams.  

Further information 

If you have any questions about the agenda or meeting arrangements, please contact 
Rachel Gentleman, Committee Services, City of Edinburgh Council, Business Centre 
2.1, Waverley Court, 4 East Market Street, Edinburgh EH8 8BG,  Tel 0131 529 4107, 
email rachel.gentleman@edinburgh.gov.uk / taylor.ward@edinburgh.gov.uk. 

A copy of the agenda and papers for this meeting will be available for inspection prior to 
the meeting at the main reception office, City Chambers, High Street, Edinburgh. 

The agenda, minutes and public reports for this meeting and all the main Council 
committees can be viewed online by going to the Council’s online Committee Library. 

Live and archived webcasts for this meeting and all main Council committees can be 
viewed online by going to the Council’s Webcast Portal. 

Webcasting of Council meetings 

Please note this meeting may be filmed for live and subsequent broadcast via the 
Council’s internet site – at the start of the meeting the Convener will confirm if all or part 
of the meeting is being filmed. 

The Council is a Data Controller under current Data Protection legislation.  We 
broadcast Council meetings to fulfil our public task obligation to enable members of the 
public to observe the democratic process.  Data collected during this webcast will be 

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
https://edinburgh.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 

 

Regulatory Committee - 13 March 2023 Page 4 of 4 

 

 

retained in accordance with the Council’s published policy including, but not limited to, 
for the purpose of keeping historical records and making those records available via the 
Council’s internet site. 

Generally the public seating areas will not be filmed. However, by entering the Council 
Chamber and using the public seating area, individuals may be filmed and images and 
sound recordings captured of them will be used and stored for web casting and training 
purposes and for the purpose of keeping historical records and making those records 
available to the public.  

Any information presented by individuals to the Council at a meeting, in a deputation or 
otherwise, in addition to forming part of a webcast that will be held as a historical 
record, will also be held and used by the Council in connection with the relevant matter 
until that matter is decided or otherwise resolved (including any potential appeals and 
other connected processes).  Thereafter, that information will continue to be held as 
part of the historical record in accordance with the paragraphs above. 

If you have any queries regarding this, and, in particular, if you believe that use and/or 
storage of any particular information would cause, or be likely to cause, substantial 
damage or distress to any individual, please contact Committee Services 
(committee.services@edinburgh.gov.uk). 



 
Regulatory Committee  
 
1.00pm, Monday, 13 March 2023 

 Sexual Entertainment Venues (SEVs): Update 
Following Judicial Review 

Executive/routine  
Wards All 
Council Commitments  

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 Committee is asked to: 

1.1.1 Note the outcome of the Judicial Review; and 

1.1.2 Agree to amend the date of implementation of the resolution in terms of 
which the Council resolved to adopt a scheme to license Sexual 
Entertainment Venues to 31 December 2023. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Paul Lawrence 

Executive Director of Place 

Contact: Andrew Mitchell, Head of Regulatory Services 

E-mail: andrew.mitchell@edinburgh.gov.uk l Tel: 0131 529 4208 

  

Page 5

Agenda Item 7.1

mailto:andrew.mitchell@edinburgh.gov.uk


 
Report 
 

 Sexual Entertainment Venues (SEVs): Update 
Following Judicial Review 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 The Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015 adds new sections to the Civic 
Government (Scotland) Act 1982, enabling local authorities to introduce a 
discretionary licensing system for sexual entertainment venues (SEVs). The Council 
resolved to license SEVs in terms of section 45B and Schedule 2 of the 1982 Act on 
31 March 2022 with an implementation date of 1 April 2023. 

2.2 This report updates Committee in respect of a Judicial Review of the SEV licensing 
policy and proposes that the date on which the licensing scheme is to take effect 
should be changed from 1 April 2023 to 31 December 2023. 

 

3. Background 

3.1 Section 76 of the (‘the 2015 Act’) adds new sections (45A to 45C) to the (‘the 1982 
Act’).  

3.2 Where a local authority resolves to license SEVs, the provisions at section 45A of 
the 1982 Act require a SEV licence for premises where the sexual entertainment is 
operated live, is for the direct or indirect financial benefit of the organiser and is for 
the sole or principal purpose of sexual stimulation of members of the audience.  

3.3 On 31 March 2022, Committee considered a report on the proposed licensing of 
SEVs within Edinburgh.  Committee agreed to adopt a SEV licensing resolution that 
would require the licensing of SEVs within Edinburgh, and to adopt a scheme for 
the licensing of SEVs  effective from 1 April 2023; the Committee also determined 
the  number of SEV premises appropriate for the city of Edinburgh to be zero; and 
further agreed to adopt the licensing policy statement and standard licensing 
conditions appended to the report all in terms of the 1982 Act. 

 

4. Main report 

Judicial Review 

4.1 As has previously been reported to Committee, the SEV licensing policy agreed by 
Committee on 31 March 2022 has been the subject of a Judicial Review in the 
Outer House of the Court of Session. The Judicial Review was sought by SEV 
operators and other interested parties. The United Sex Workers, a branch of the 

Page 6

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2015/10/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1982/45
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1982/45
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s45934/7.1%20SEVs%20-%20Update.pdf


United Voices of the World trade union, was also granted permission to be added 
as an additional party.  

4.2 The Judicial Review was heard in December 2022. On 10 February 2023, the Court 
issued its decision, which found against the Council and in favour of the petitioners. 
In particular, the Court found that the Council had no discretion to consider 
applications for a SEV licence where the Council had determined the number of 
SEVs appropriate for Edinburgh to be zero. Consequently, the effect of the said 
determination was that the Council must refuse any application for a SEV licence. 
Therefore, Committee’s decision in relation to the determination of an appropriate 
number was struck down by the Court.  

4.3 After careful consideration, and in consultation with Legal Services, external legal 
advisers, Counsels and group spokespersons, a decision has been made not to 
appeal against the decision of Court at the Judicial Review. 

SEV Resolution  

4.4 As noted above, on 31 March 2022 the Council resolved to license SEVs in terms of 
section 45B and Schedule 2 of the 1982 Act. The Court’s decision in respect of the 
Judicial Review does not otherwise affect the validity of the Resolution or the wider 
SEV policy made by the Council to license SEVs. 

4.5 Where a local authority passes a resolution, it must specify a date from when it is to 
take effect in their area. This must be at least one year from the date on which the 
resolution is made. When Committee resolved to license SEVs, the date on which 
the licensing scheme was to take effect was specified as 1 April 2023.  

4.6 The local authority must also publish a notice that they passed a resolution not less 
than 28 days prior to the date on which the resolution is to take effect. The notice 
must state the general effect of the licensing procedure and provisions at Schedule 
2 of the 1982 Act, as modified for SEVs, and must be published either electronically 
or in a local newspaper. At the same time, the Council must also publish the agreed 
SEV Policy. 

4.7 In practical terms, the Council would have been required to publish the statutory 
notice and the policy on or before 4 March 2023. However, this was not possible 
given the extensive consideration which was given to appealing the decision of the 
Court within the required timescales. 

4.8 This presents two immediate issues, in that, the Council does not have a number 
determination in place; nor has the Council published the resolution or the SEV 
policy as required, for the reason set out above. Therefore, it is recommended that 
Committee agree that the effective date for implementation of the licensing scheme, 
in terms of the Council’s resolution, be amended to the later date of  31 December 
2023. This will allow time for the Council to carry out the consultation and to reach a 
determination, as set out below. 

SEV Consultation 

4.9 At its meeting of on 6 February 2023, Committee agreed that officers should 
prepare a statutory 12 week consultation to review the licensing policy on SEVs, 
and in particular the determination of the appropriate number of SEVs as zero. 

Page 7

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s54168/7.1%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20by%20Councillor%20Younie%20-%20Sexual%20Entertainment%20Venues.pdf


Committee also agreed that a consultation would only be commenced  after the 
Judicial Review was determined and the outcome subsequently considered by 
elected members and officers. 

4.10 As set out above, it is recommended that Committee agrees that the effective date 
for implementation of the licensing scheme in terms of the Council’s resolution be 
amended to the later date of 31 December 2023. A report will be submitted to the 
next Committee meeting detailing the consultation plan with respect to a review of 
the SEV policy. This will also give clarity to those venues, staff and performers 
directly affected by the introduction of the licensing scheme.  

 

5. Next Steps 

5.1 Subject to Committee approval, the effective date for implementation licensing 
scheme will be changed to 31 December 2023. 

5.2 A report will be submitted to the next meeting of Committee, on 1 May 2023, 
providing details of the proposed consultation plan with respect to the review of the 
SEV policy. 

 

6. Financial impact 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations in this 
report. 

6.2 An update will be provided on the costs incurred from the judicial review to 
Committee on 1 May 2023. 

 

7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 The report to Committee on 1 May 2023 will set out the issues that Members will be 
required to consider.  

7.2 A full Equalities Impact Assessment will be completed and published as part of the 
statutory consultation process. 

 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 Response to Motion by Councillor Younie – Sexual Entertainment Venues (SEVs) – 
Regulatory Committee – 6 February 2023. 

 

9. Appendices 

9.1 Appendix 1 – Current SEV Resolution. 

 

Page 8

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s54168/7.1%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20by%20Councillor%20Younie%20-%20Sexual%20Entertainment%20Venues.pdf


 

Appendix 1 
 

THE CITY OF EDINBURGH COUNCIL  
CIVIC GOVERNMENT (SCOTLAND) ACT 1982 (“the Act”)  

 
CITY OF EDINBURGH SEXUAL ENTERTAINMENT VENUES RESOLUTION Number 1 

of 2022 
 
The City of Edinburgh Council, in exercise of its powers in terms of 45A-45C of the Act, 
hereby makes the following resolution: 
 
(1) Schedule 2 of the 1982 Act shall have effect throughout the Council’s area in relation to 
the licensing of Sexual Entertainment Venues.  
(2) Subject to the terms of the Act, a Sexual Entertainment Venue licence shall be required 
for the use of the premises as places of Sexual Entertainment as from 1 April 2023  
(3) The premises in the Council’s area which require to be licensed under the Resolution 
include those which provide the following, as they are commonly known:  
 

(a) Lap dancing  
(b) Pole dancing  
(c) Table dancing  
(d) Strip shows 
(e) Peep shows 
(f)  Live sex shows  
 

The list of examples above is not intended to be exhaustive and should only be 
treated as indicative. The decision to licence premises as SEVs shall depend on the 
content of the relevant entertainment, rather than the name given to it. 
 
In terms of the Act ‘Sexual entertainment’ means any live performance or any live display of 
nudity which is of such a nature that, ignoring financial gain, it must reasonably be assumed 
to be provided solely or principally for the purpose of sexually stimulating any member of 
the audience (whether by verbal or other means).  
 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	Notice of meeting and agenda
	Regulatory Committee
	1.00pm (or at the conclusion of the Licensing Sub-Committee, whichever is the later), Monday, 13th March, 2023
	Contacts
	1. Order of Business
	2. Declaration of Interests
	3. Deputations
	4. Minutes
	5. Rolling Actions Log
	6. Business Bulletin
	7. Executive Decisions
	8. Routine Decisions
	9. Motions
	Committee Members
	Information about the Regulatory Committee
	Further information
	Webcasting of Council meetings





	7.1 Sexual Entertainment Venues (SEVs): Update Following Judicial Review
	Regulatory Committee
	1.00pm, Monday, 13 March 2023
	1. Recommendations


	Report
	2. Executive Summary
	3. Background
	4. Main report
	5. Next Steps
	6. Financial impact
	7. Stakeholder/Community Impact
	8. Background reading/external references
	9. Appendices



